Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-1-2017

KDN Management, Inc. v. Winco Foods, LLC Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45010

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Amended Judgment entered by the Fourth Judicial District Court in and for Ada County, Idaho (the "District Court"), Case No. CV OC 1219536, consolidated with Case No. CV OC 1406615. The Amended Judgment is in the amount of \$2,929,383.31, and the District Court entered it on February 24, 2017. R Vol. I, p. 6101.

B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS IN THE DISTRICT COURT, AND DISPOSITION

On October 25, 2012, Appellant KDN Management Inc. ("KDN") commenced Case No. CV OC 1219536 by filing a complaint asserting a claim for breach of contract, and related claims, against Appellee WinCo Foods, LLC d/b/a WinCo Foods ("WinCo") and WinCo Holdings, Inc. R Vol. I, p. 35. KDN sought repayment on three invoices for concrete repair work performed, in the amount of \$340,667.50, plus interest an attorney fees. R Vol. I, p. 45–46. On December 7, 2012, WinCo answered and counterclaimed against KDN, asserting that KDN had overbilled WinCo in the amount of approximately \$769,000 for the concrete repair work WinCo performed. R Vol. I, p. 50, 68.

On April 18, 2013, the District Court entered an order dismissing KDN's claims against WinCo with prejudice. R Vol. I, p. 107. On February 7, 2014, WinCo moved for summary judgment against KDN on its claims. R Vol. I, p. 152. KDN did not oppose that motion. R Vol. I, p. 779.

On April 1, 2014, WinCo commenced Case No. CV OC 1406615, asserting claims against Kym D. Nelson ("Nelson"), SealSource International, LLC ("SealSource"), and KD3 Flooring LLC ("KD3"). R Vol. I, p. 843. Specifically, WinCo asserted a fraud claim against Nelson arising from her alleged participation in intentionally overbilling WinCo on three invoices. R Vol. I, p. 850. WinCo asserted a claim for breach of contract and related claims, as well as a claim for violation of the Idaho Consumer Protection Act, against Nelson, SealSource, and KD3, for overbilling. R Vol. I, p. 851–52. The District Court consolidated Case No. CV OC 1219536 into Case No. CV OC 1406615. R Vol. I, p. 1179.

On May 5, 2015, WinCo filed an Amended Complaint against the Nelson Parties. R Vol. I, p. 1370. WinCo retained its previously-asserted claims, but also added an alter ego claim, against all the Nelson Parties. R Vol. I, p. 1381–83. On October 14, 2015, WinCo filed a Second Amended Complaint, seeking an increased amount of damages and adding a second claim for fraud and a fraudulent transfer claim, against Nelson. R Vol. I, p. 2666, 2675, 2680–81.

Although the case had been scheduled as a jury trial since its inception, and despite WinCo's prior stipulation to a jury trial and the Nelson Parties' motion, pursuant to Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 39(b), for a jury trial, on November 20, 2015, the District Court scheduled a bench trial. R Vol. I, p. 22. The bench trial occurred on May 31, June 1–2, 6–9, and 21–22, 2016. R Vol. I, p. 28–30. On October 5, 2016, the District Court entered Findings of Fact and

¹ This brief refers to KDN, Nelson, SealSource, and KD3 collectively as the "Nelson Parties."

Conclusions of Law. R Vol. I, p. 5003. On October 14, 2016, the District Court entered judgment in favor of WinCo, and against each of the Nelson Parties, in the principal amount of \$903,724.50. R Vol. I, p. 5063. On February 2, 2014, after granting WinCo's motion for attorney fees and costs, the District Court entered an Amended Judgment in favor of WinCo, and against each of the Nelson Parties, in the principal amount of \$2,929,383.31. R Vol. I, p. 6071, 6101. Also on February 24, 2017, the District Court denied the Nelson Parties' previously-filed motion for relief pursuant to Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 59. R Vol. I, p. 6071. The Nelson Parties filed their notice of appeal on April 7, 2017. R Vol. I, p. 6104.

C. STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. The Parties

KDN was a Utah corporation that was incorporated in Utah on February 18, 2010. R

Vol. I, p. 5007; Tr Vol. II, p. 2230 L. 178–p. 2231, L. 10 & Ex. 91. From February 18, 2010,
until KDN's cessation, Nelson was KDN's sole shareholder and one of two directors. R Vol. I,
p. 5007; Tr Vol. I, p. 1058 L. 11–16; Vol. II, p. 1344 L. 13–17. KDN was an s-corporation. Tr

Vol. II, p. 1344 L. 10–12. On or about April 26, 2010, KDN received, from the Internal Revenue

Service, notice of its acceptance as an s-corporation. Tr Vol. II, p. 2228, L. 7–18 & Ex. 515.

Nelson intended that KDN conduct business, and that it interface with WinCo, under the trade

name "KD Concrete Design." Tr Vol. II, p. 1355, L. 21–24.

KD3 is a Utah limited liability company formed in 2006. R Vol. I, p. 5007; Tr Vol. II, p. 1626, L. 15–p. 1627, L. 6 & Ex. 100; p. 2136 L. 7–9. From the date of KD3's creation through 2009 and 2010, Nelson was one of several members of KD3 and its sole manager. R Vol. I, p.

1007; Tr Vol. II, p. 1627, L. 7-p. 1629, L. 20 & Ex. 100. KD3 is a labor company—it furnishes labor for concrete sealant and repair. Tr Vol. II, p. 1638, L. 17-22; p. 2098, L. 8-10; p. 2135, L. 13-20.

SealSource is a Utah limited liability company formed in 2002. R Vol. I, p. 5007.

During 2010 and the majority of 2011, Nelson was a minority member of SealSource, and she was not a manager of SealSource. Tr Vol. I, p. 1144, L. 23– p. 1145, L. 3. SealSource is a distributor of concrete sealant and color materials used to protect and repair concrete. Tr Vol. II, p. 1648, L. 22–p. 1649, L. 5.

WinCo is in the business of "the sale of grocery items." R Vol. I, p. 5006; Tr Vol. I, p. 726, L. 2–5. Although it is headquartered in Boise, Idaho, it has "operating stores and distribution centers in Washington, Oregon, California, Idaho, Nevada, Utah, Arizona, [and] Texas." R Vol. I, p. 5006; Tr Vol. I, p. 726, L. 11–14. It has 16,000 employees working in 107 stores. R Vol. I, p. 5006; Tr Vol. I, p. 722, L. 17–22.

Although not parties to this proceeding, certain individuals performed key roles for WinCo. Tom Little ("Little") was a WinCo maintenance engineer stationed at WinCo's corporate headquarters from 2007 to 2011. Tr Vol. I, p. 775, L. 14–22. In that capacity, Little supervised the maintenance of all WinCo stores and was responsible for approving invoices from contractors who had performed maintenance work at WinCo stores, where those invoices were under \$50,000. Tr Vol. I, p. 776, L. 20– p. 777, L. 7. If an invoice was in excess of \$50,000, Little would ask certain individuals in management to approve and sign the invoice. R Vol. I, p. 5016. One of those individuals was David Van Etten ("Van Etten"). Tr Vol. I, p. 777, L. 8–17.

Finally, beginning in and around 2006, Jim Douty ("Douty") served as a WinCo maintenance supervisor in WinCo's Boise, Idaho division. R. Vol. I, p. 5010; Tr Vol. I, p. 851, L. 12–p. 852, L. 8. In that capacity, Douty supervised the maintenance of all WinCo stores within his sphere of responsibility, including floor maintenance. Tr Vol. I, p. 853, L. 1–17.

2. The Business Relationship Between WinCo and the Nelson Parties

There was some history between Nelson and WinCo prior to the transactions that gave rise to this litigation. Specifically, prior to 2009, SealSource "suppl[ied] cleaning supplies, floor supplies to the [WinCo] stores." R Vol. I, p. 5007; Tr Vol. I, p. 783, L. 1–2.

As that relationship progressed, WinCo and Nelson discussed whether Nelson's then-business—either SealSource or KD3—could perform joint repair work at WinCo stores. R Vol. I, p. 5010; Tr Vol. I, p. 783, L. 3–13. Beginning in approximately September 2008, KD3 began seeking to obtain concrete joint repair work from WinCo by submitting a proposal, in its name, to WinCo. R Vol. I, p. 5010; Tr Vol. I, p. 783, L. 114– p. 785, L. 9 & Ex. 49; p. 1090, L. 24–p. 1091, L. 12 & Ex. 41. Although it did not do so initially, KD3 later directed proposals to Little specifically. R Vol. I, p. 5011; Tr Vol. I, p. 785, L. 10–25 & Ex. 42. However, in December 2009, Nelson informed WinCo that she intended to form KDN as the entity that would actually enter into the contract with WinCo for joint repair work. Tr Vol. I, p. 1074, L. 15–21. Furthermore, on or about January 21, 2010, Nelson again informed WinCo—specifically, Little—that KDN would be formed to enter into any contract with WinCo for joint repair work. Tr Vol. I, p. 1099, L. 17–p. 1100, L. 2. Negotiations proceeded, aimed at forming an agreement whereby KDN would perform joint repair services, as a general contractor, for WinCo stores. Tr

Vol 1, p. 1350, L. 10–p. 1354, L. 6. Those negotiations involved discussions regarding price, identification of the stores that would receive joint repair work, and a start date. *Id.*; R Vol. I, p. 5011-12.

Given those variables, Nelson deemed that an agreement had been reached when KDN actually commenced work actually commenced on a particular store. Tr Vol. II, p. 2112, L. 11–p. 2113, L. 2. Nelson's belief that an agreement as reached was supported by the fact that WinCo retained the ability throughout the project to pull any store that it had previously identified as needing work. Tr Vol. I, p. 803, L. 2–9; Tr Vol. II, p. 2267, p. 8–25. And as of February 10, 2010, KDN still awaited a start date for work on any store. Tr Vol. I, p. 796, L. 2–15 & Ex. 56. As noted above, Nelson formed KDN as a Utah corporation on February 18, 2010. R Vol. 1, p. 5014; Tr Vol. II, p. 1289, L. 21–23, Ex. 91. On February 16, 2010, KDN ordered material needed to perform the joint repair work. Tr Vol. I, p. 1107, L. 3–23 & Ex. 57. KDN commenced work on a WinCo store thereafter. Critically, prior to February 18, 2010—the date of its formation—KDN had performed no work of any kind on any WinCo store and received no payment from WinCo. Tr Vol. II, p. 1355, L. 15–18; p. 1355, L. 25–p. 1356, L. 1–3.

Critically, KDN's contract with WinCo initially pertained to concrete joint repair work on only one store. KDN was required to obtain approval from WinCo to perform work on any additional store. Tr Vol. II, p. 2184, L. 4–p. 2185, L. 14 & Ex. 629. At most, WinCo's initial arrangement with KDN was for work on three stores, all of them in the Portland, Oregon area. Tr Vol. II, p. 2241, L. 10–18 & Ex. 626. That work was to be a trial period (the "Trial Period"). WinCo would retain KDN for additional stores in WinCo's Portland, Oregon, area and agree as

to terms (including identification of stores) at that time (the "Portland Agreement"), if WinCo was satisfied with KDN's work during the Trial Period. R Vol. I, p. 5012. The Trial Period evolved into the Portland Agreement, which encompassed KDN's work on additional stores in the Portland, Oregon, area. R Vol. I, p. 5015; Tr Vol. II, p. 2358, L. 8–11. In turn, the Portland Agreement evolved into another, new and separate, agreement by which KDN would perform joint repair work for WinCo stores in WinCo's Boise, Idaho area (the "Boise Agreement"). Tr Vol. II, p. 2267, L. 8–13. KDN had not yet finalized the terms of the Boise Agreement even by May 3, 2010. Tr Vol. I, p. 871, L. 5– p. 872, L. 9 & Ex. 586.

The testimony at trial was undisputed that WinCo did not believe that it ever contracted with Nelson personally. Little believed that WinCo had contracted with "KD Concrete," which he understood was a business entity and not Nelson personally. R Vol. I, p. 5012; Tr Vol. I, p. 817, L. 5–13. He also did not believe that WinCo had contracted with either SealSource or KD3. Tr Vol. I, p. 816, L. 5–23. Little specifically referred to the business entity with which he dealt as "KD Concrete Design." Tr Vol. I, p. 829, L. 4–8 & Ex. 646. In fact, in a declaration filed in this case in October 2013, Little referred to both "KD Concrete Design, Inc." and "KDN" as the party with which WinCo had contracted, betraying his knowledge of both KDN's name and its status as a corporation. Tr Vol. I, p. 822, L. 21–p. 924, L. 25 & Ex. 578. That designation could not have been accidental: although Little "wrote . . . out" the declaration "to a certain point," WinCo's counsel "rewrote [the declaration] for [Little] to proofread and sign." Tr Vol. I, p. 825, L. 1–19.

For his part, Douty believed that WinCo had contracted with KD Concrete, which he understood was a division of SealSource. Tr Vol. I, p. 866, L. 2–8. Douty understood that KD Concrete was a separate business entity. Tr Vol. I, p. 876, L. 25–p. 877, L. 20. Douty cannot recollect why he believed KD Concrete was a division of SealSource, other than he "assumed that that was [Nelson's] company and that she hired out the labor." Tr Vol. I, p. 866, L. 11–p. 867, L. 10 & Ex. 73. Although Douty saw emails referring to "KD3 Concrete Design," he simply assumed that that designation referred to KD Concrete because "the name of the entity doing the floor repair wasn't terribly material" to him, and that he "assume[d] that [KD Concrete] was the company that was coming in to do the joint repair." Tr Vol. I, p. 875, L. 7–p. 876, L. 11 & Ex. 593 and 517.

Finally, Van Etten reviewed discovery responses issued by WinCo in this case. Those discovery responses either admit, or do not dispute, that KDN entered into a contract with WinCo to perform the concrete joint repair work at issue in this case. Tr Vol. I, p. 754, L. 20–p. 758, L. 1. Van Etten was also aware of the decision by WinCo to assert a counterclaim against KDN, specifically, for breach of contract. Tr Vol. I, p. 751, L. 21–p. 752, L. 3.

The takeaway is that *nobody* with boots on the ground at WinCo thought that WinCo had contracted with Nelson personally. *All* of them believed that WinCo had contracted with at least a business entity affiliated with Nelson. Little's declaration testimony indicates that he knew the name of the entity was KDN, and that it was a corporation.

3. KDN's Post-Trial Period Disclosure of Its Principal Status to WinCo

After the inception of the Trial Period, but before the Portland Agreement and certainly before the Boise Agreement, Nelson and KDN continued to disclose KDN as the entity performing the work and Nelson's principal.

On March 26, 2010, Nelson sent an email to Little asking if WinCo needed a tax identification number to facilitate payment for the joint repair work on the WinCo stores. Tr Vol. I, p. 1108, L. 7 – p. 1109, L. 4 & Ex. 65. On April 16, 2010, either Nelson or Karen Thompson ("Thompson"), an individual that performed work for KDN, sent an email to Marci Foster ("Foster"), of WinCo, from an email address denominated "kdnconcrete@gmail.com" and with a footer identifying "KD Concrete Design." Tr Vol. I, p. 742, L. 1-p. 743, L. 3. In that email, Nelson or Thompson asked Foster if WinCo required a W-9 form so that KDN's invoices (issued under the name "KD Concrete Design") could be paid. Tr Vol. I, p. 741, L. 15-p. 743, L. 12 & Ex. 500. In that email, Nelson or Thompson stated that "[w]e are a new contractor doing work for WinCo." Tr Vol. I, p. 743, L. 6–12. Foster forwarded that email to Little and to Van Etten and asked them to confirm if "either of [them] know what this vendor is doing for us and if their invoices should be going through us or a General Contractor." Tr Vol. I, p. 741, L. 15-p. 743, L. 12 & Ex. 500. KDN then received a letter, on WinCo letterhead, from Marcia Kaiser ("Kaiser"), of WinCo, requesting the return of a completed W-9 form requesting a taxpayer identification number and certification. Tr Vol. II, p. 2246, L. 16-p. 2247, L. 19 & Ex. 501. KDN returned, to WinCo (via Kaiser), a completed W-9 form identifying KDN and furnishing KDN's tax identification number. R Vol. I, p. 5014; Tr Vol. I, p. 911, L. 5-p. 912, L. 5 & Ex.

688; Tr Vol. II, p. 2247, L. 21–25, p. 2255, L. 7–12. Also, on April 30, 2010, Nelson sent WinCo (via Kaiser) a copy of KDN's articles of incorporation. Tr Vol. II, p. 2260, L. 14–24. In connection with the furnishing of the W-9, Nelson, along with Thompson, again informed Little in April 2010 that "KD Concrete is KDN Management, Inc." Tr Vol. II, p. 2298, L. 7–p. 2299, L. 1.

Although WinCo's policy and practice is to issue one payment without a signed, completed W-9 form on file, that is an exception limited to one payment; WinCo will not pay more than one invoice without a signed, completed W-9 form on file. R Vol. I, p. 5014. In fact, WinCo made substantial payments to KD Concrete following April 30, 2010. Tr Vol. I, p. 912, L. 20–p. 913, L.13. Therefore, at least by April 30, 2010, WinCo must have had KDN's signed W-9—identifying "KDN Management Inc."—on file. R Vol. I, p. 5014.

These post-Trial Period disclosures make clear that, at the barest minimum, WinCo knew it was dealing with KDN prior to entering into the Portland Agreement and, certainly, the Boise Agreement.²

4. The Nelson Parties' Separateness and KDN's Operations as an S-Corporation

Out of each of the Nelson Parties, KDN was the entity that received and accounted for payment from WinCo for joint repair work and deposited those payments in a KDN bank

² At least one additional disclosure occurred. On or about July 27, 2010, KDN paid WinCo—via a check labeled "KDN Management Inc."—\$4,883.00, with a memo line referencing that the funds were for "damaged produce," which involved produce allegedly compromised by the joint repair work at a WinCo store in Boise. Tr Vol. II, p. 2268, L. 1–19 & Ex. 642.

account. Tr Vol. II, p. 2005, L. 23–25; p. 2014, L. 9–p. 2016, L. 7 & Ex. 545. As noted above, KDN was an s-corporation—a key fact in analyzing its operations and its financial relationship with the other Nelson Parties.³

For starters, and for the Court's context, the Nelson Parties were a lot more separate than the District Court's decision suggests. KD3, KDN, and SealSource were each separately organized in Utah. Tr Vol. II, p. 1808, L. 11–15 & Exs. 91, 93, 100, 689, 559, 562, 681, 690, and 691. KD3, KDN, SealSource, and Nelson each had separate bank accounts. Tr Vol. II, p. 1624, L. 21–25; p. 1918, L. 16–21; p. 1213, L. 13–15 & Exs. 193, 194, 115. KD3, KDN, and SealSource also had separate bookkeepers. Tr Vol. II, p. 1805, L. 22–25; p. 1807, L. 1–5. They also each maintained separate QuickBooks files. Tr Vol. II, p. 1623, L. 9–19; p. 1625, L. 1–8; p. 1809, L. 4–21. They also utilized separate accountants or tax preparers. Tr Vol. II, p. 1807, L. 6–p. 1808, L. 1. KD3 and SealSource also utilized separate credit cards. Tr Vol. II, p. 1939, L. 11–17.

KD3, KDN and SealSource each filed separate tax returns. Tr Vol. II, p. 1808, L. 2–8 & Exs. 203, 204, 205, 375, 377, 379, 382, 383, 385, 387, 540, 541, 542, 543, 544, 545, 546, 547,

³ At trial, WinCo offered the testimony of Karen Ginnett, CPA ("Ginnett") to render a conclusion that corporate formalities were not respected between Ms. Nelson and the Nelson Entities. By her own admission, Ginnett analyzed the books and records of the Nelson Entities at a higher standard than even an IRS audit. Tr Vol. II, p. 1791, L. 24–25; p. 1087, L. 1–8. Other than generally referring to "accounting standards" and "IRS standards," Ginnett could not articulate the applicable standard of review she relied upon when rendering her opinions. Tr Vol. II, p. 1793, L. 14–22. Ginnett is not a licensed CPA in the state of Utah. Tr Vol. II, p. 1797, L. 19–20. Ginnett had never analyzed an entity relative to veil piercing or alter ego claims, Tr Vol. II, p. 1799, L. 7–12, nor had she testified in any case that involved veil piercing or alter ego claims before, Tr Vol. II, p. 1979, L. 9–23.

548, 549, 550, 551, 552, 553, 554, 555, 564, 565, 566, 567, 568, 569, 566, and 567. Nelson also filed her own personal tax returns. Critically, because all three of the Nelson Party entities— KD3, SealSource, and most importantly KDN, which was an s-corporation—were pass-through entities, Nelson paid the income taxes for the entities on her personal tax return. Tr Vol. II, p. 1917, L. 22–25; p. 1918, L. 1–4; p. 1920, L. 9–16; p. 2019, L. 3–10 & Exs. 568, 569, 570.

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