#### **Uldaho Law**

# Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-27-2017

# KDN Management, Inc. v. Winco Foods, LLC Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45010

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

### c. The District Court Reached Its Decision by an Exercise of Reason.

The District Court, intimately familiar with the issues to be tried, including the discovery misconduct and spoliation issues, came to a reasoned conclusion to proceed with a court trial. Tr. Vol. I, pp. 372:15-373:1. And there is nothing to weigh against the District Court's reasons for not excusing the Nelson Parties' waiver. In fact, this Court has held that where "appellants have given no reason for their failure to make a timely demand . . . , we find no abuse of discretion in denying the request." *Hayden Lake Fire Prot. Dist.*, 141 Idaho at 398 (quoting *Pocatello*, 106 Idaho at 373); *see also Golden Condor, Inc.*, 106 Idaho at 283.

What is entirely lacking from the Nelson Parties' argument, both before the District Court and now on appeal, is any reason for their failure to make a proper demand. Before the District Court the Nelson Parties filed two documents: (1) Response to WinCo Foods, LLC's Objection to Jury Trial (CR 3947-52); and (2) Motion for Jury Trial (CR 3953-56). Neither submission provided any reason, let alone a legitimate reason, for the Nelson Parties' failure to make a proper demand. The same can be said for the Nelson Parties' arguments at the hearing on their Motion for Jury Trial. Tr. Vol. I, pp. 347-59, 370-73. There the District Court asked the question directly, and the Nelson Parties answered directly—they had no legitimate reason:

THE COURT: What is the evidence as to why there was not a jury trial demanded? Isn't that something I need to consider under Rule 39?

MR JOHNSON: Yeah. Under Rule 39 I think the evidence is that none of the parties here, the Nelson parties, know why it wasn't demanded.

Tr. Vol. I, p. 357:18-23. Nothing has changed on appeal. The Opening Brief makes no attempt to explain the Nelson Parties' failure to make a timely demand. And with no reason for their failure, there is no basis to find an abuse of discretion in the District Court's denial of the Rule 39(b) motion. *Hayden Lake Fire Prot. Dist.*, 141 Idaho at 398, 111 P.3d at 83; *Pocatello*, 106 Idaho at 373; *Golden Condor, Inc.*, 106 Idaho at 283.

### C. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY FOUND MS. NELSON PERSONALLY LIABLE FOR DAMAGES ARISING FROM THE WORK PERFORMED.

The entirety of the Nelson Parties' argument for why Ms. Nelson should not be personally liable relies on the false premise that there were three separate and distinct contracts entered into between KDN and WinCo, rather than one contract, as the District Court found. Whether a contract exists between the parties is a question for the trier of fact. *Johnson v. Allied Stores Corp.*, 106 Idaho 363, 369, 679 P.2d 640, 646 (1984). The District Court Findings "must not be set aside unless clearly erroneous." Idaho R. Civ. P. 52(a)(7)). The District Court's findings are not only supported by the factual record, but also the applicable case law. Taking away that false premise, the Nelson Parties' two arguments against holding Ms. Nelson personally liable fail. Ms. Nelson's disclosure of her principal part-way through the performance under a single contract does not absolve her of personal liability for contractual breaches that occurred after disclosure. Similarly, Ms. Nelson's incorporation of KDN *after* entering into the contract does not eliminate her personal liability under Idaho Code § 30-1-204. 14

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Now Idaho Code § 30-29-204.

### 1. There is Substantial and Competent Evidence to Support the District Court's Finding of One Contract.

The record contains sufficient evidence to support District Court's finding that a single contract existed. Specifically, the District Court found that by January 2010, the parties (i.e., "KD Concrete" and WinCo) had agreed to: (a) removal and cleaning of current joint material; (b) the installation of joint sealant, SL 75; (c) price per linear foot; (d) warranty terms; and (e) that KD Concrete would perform the work on three test stores. CR 5012, ¶ 36-37. The parties adopted the remaining the terms of the October 2009 proposal from KD3, which stated in pertinent part that "work to be coordinated with local store management or regional management for maintenance." CR 5012; Ex. 49. The parties further agreed that KD Concrete would perform work on three test stores and, if that went well, WinCo could request work in its additional stores under the same terms on an "as-needed" basis. Id. After coming to this agreement with Mr. Little, Ms. Nelson coordinated directly with the maintenance supervisors, Mr. Weber and Mr. Douty, to start work at additional stores. CR 5001-02. In other words, Ms. Nelson did not go back to Mr. Little, the WinCo representative with authority, after the first three stores to enter into a new contract. And as the District Court determined, both Mr. Weber and Mr. Douty did not have authority to enter into the type of contract formed between KD Concrete and WinCo. CR 5015. Thus, there is substantial and component evidence to support the District Court's finding that a single contract existed between KD Concrete and WinCo, even without taking into account the adverse inferences the District Court applied.

The District Court's legal conclusions are similarly supported by the applicable case law. Contrary to the Nelson Parties' unsupported assertions, it is legally permissible (and in this case factually accurate) for a contract to be extended to govern subsequent performance without creating a new contract, whether or not that performance is contemplated at the time of contracting. *See Simper v. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. of Idaho*, 132 Idaho 471, 474, 974 P.2d

1100 (1999) (continuation of insurance policy was extension of original agreement, as opposed to a new contract); *see also Bishop v. Gosiger, Inc.*, 692 F. Supp. 2d 762, 771 (E.D. Mich. 2010) (a master contract applies to subsequent agreements so long as "the parties' ongoing relationship" remains "essentially unchanged"). As the District Court noted, the contract between KD Concrete and WinCo "falls neatly under the definition of an indefinite-quantities contract" and the subsequent work beyond the first three stores was "not unlike a renewal or extension contract" in which "the contract is extended or renewed to govern subsequent performance without creating a new contract." CR 5035. Thus, a valid contract existed and each breach is a liability under that contract, which under Idaho Code § 30-1-204, relates back to the time the contract was executed.

The Nelson Parties' argument that no contract existed until the physical work started is illogical and contrary to Idaho law. *J.R. Simplot Co. v. State Dep't of Emp't*, 110 Idaho 762, 766, 718 P.2d 1200 (1986) (noting that it is not uncommon for contracts to provide for unilateral termination); *see also Foley v. Munio*, 105 Idaho 309, 311, 669 P.2d 198, 200 (1983) (noting that when a party "renounces his obligation before the time for performance, the promise has, according to the great weight of authority, an option to treat the contract has ended, as far as further performance is concerned, and to maintain an action at once for . . . damages") (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Their argument also leads to absurd results. Take for example a termination for convenience clause, common in the construction industry. Under the Nelson Parties' theory, the existence of such a clause would always preclude an owner from bringing a claim against a contractor for failing to perform because a contract would have never actually existed if the owner always has the right to terminate.

The cases cited by the Nelson Parties do not support their position. The cases do not involve indefinite quantities contracts. Rather, they relate to severing *arbitration provisions* from other parts of an otherwise enforceable contract. In *United Services Auto. Ass'n v. Pells*, No. 51969-7-I, 2004 WL 792666, at \*2 (Wash. Ct. App. April 12, 2004), the contract at issue contained in arbitration clause that required both parties to agree to arbitrate disputes only after the dispute occurred. In other words, there was no actual agreement to arbitrate at the time of contracting. *Cummings-Reed v. United Health Group*, No. 2:15-CV-02359-JAM-AC, 2016 WL 1734873, at \*3 (E.D. Cal. May 2, 2016), involved an employment agreement, the provisions of which allowed the employer to modify or eliminate the arbitration clause unilaterally after learning of a potential claim, thus essentially giving the employer sole power to dictate dispute resolution procedures. Contrast those situations, where at the time of contracting there was no actual agreement on arbitration, with the case here, where the parties agreed that if KD Concrete performed the work, WinCo would pay the agreed upon amount.

The Nelson Parties also cite *TMC Worldwide, L.P. v. Gray*, 178 S.W.3d 29, 37 (Tex. Ct. App. (Houston) 2005), to support the proposition that Ms. Nelson did not become legally obligated for more than the first three stores until she was paid for each additional store. That case, however, involved a specific Texas statute stating that a covenant not to compete is not enforceable unless accompanied by an "otherwise enforceable agreement at the time the agreement is made." Thus, to enforce the covenant, the plaintiff had to prove "a contemporaneous exchange of consideration between the parties at the time [of] the 'otherwise enforceable agreement." *Id.* at 37. Conversely, here there is no statute governing the formation of the contract at issue.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> The Nelson Parties previously relied on the same cases in its motion for a new trial. The District Court agreed with WinCo that these cases are "irrelevant." CR 6075.

In sum, this Court should not disrupt the findings of the District Court that a single contract existed between KD Concrete and WinCo as of January 2010, and that subsequent performance in both the Portland and Boise Division were governed by that contract.

#### 2. The District Court Properly Found Ms. Nelson Liable for Failing to Disclose KDN.

The District Court properly found that "Ms. Nelson presented no evidence that she clearly and affirmatively disclosed to WinCo at or prior to January 2010 that she was acting as an agent for a yet-to-be formed corporation named 'KDN Management, Inc., d/b/a KD Concrete Design' or even 'KDN.'" CR 5038. Despite this fact, the Nelson Parties assert three arguments for why Ms. Nelson cannot be liable under the undisclosed principal theory because: (a) her disclosure of "KD Concrete" was sufficient; (b) WinCo knew it was contracting with a business entity; and (c) she disclosed KDN part-way through performance. Each of these arguments ignore Idaho law as well as key factual findings made by the District Court.

The Idaho case law related to an agent's liability for failing to disclose a principal is well settled. *Agrisource, Inc. v. Johnson*, 156 Idaho 903, 332 P.3d 815 (2014). In *Agrisource*, the agent, Robert Johnson, set up a new company called Johnson Grain, Inc. *Id.* at 905, 332 P.3d at 818. Mr. Johnson then contracted with Agrisource, who had previous business dealings with Johnson Grain, Inc.'s predecessor company. *Id.* Agrisource made checks out to "Johnson Grain." The question before the Court was the sufficiency of the disclosure of the principal. The district court determined that Mr. Johnson never disclosed the full name of "Johnson Grain, Inc." and, therefore, was personally liable. This Court affirmed, holding that an agent is personally liable on a contract unless the agent "clearly and affirmatively" declares: (1) the agency relationship; and (2) the identity of the principal, including "specificity as to the company's name and corporate existence." *Id.* at 909-10, 332 P.3d at 821-22.

First, Ms. Nelson's disclosure of "KD Concrete" does not eliminate her personal liability because the District Court found that at no time did Ms. Nelson disclose that "KD Concrete" was associated with KDN. CR 5012, 5038. Further, KD Concrete Design did not even exist. It was not until October 11, 2012, a few weeks before KDN filed the initial lawsuit against WinCo, that Ms. Nelson finally registered "KD Concrete Design" as an assumed business name of KDN. Ex. 90. Unlike the agent in *Agrisource*, who as least had a legal entity to disclose, Ms. Nelson's purported disclosure was of a non-existent entity. Under *Agrisource*, she is personally liable.

Second, Ms. Nelson's argument that she cannot be liable because WinCo knew there was some entity involved in the transaction fails as well. Under *Agrisource*, an agent must disclose *both* the existing of an agency relationship *and* the name of the principal. Indeed, the district court in *Agrisource* noted that Johnson would still be liable, "even if Agrisource knew Johnson was acting as an agent," because "the record was undisputed that Johnson never disclosed to Agrisource that he was acting specifically as Johnson Grain Inc.'s agent." 156 Idaho at 910, 332 P.3d at 822. The Nelson Parties' reliance on *Nadeau Painting Specialist, Ltd. v. Dalcor Property Management, Inc.*, No. 03-06-00060-CV, 2008 WL 2777724 (Tex. Ct. App. (Austin) July 18, 2008), an unpublished Texas state court opinion, is misplaced. Idaho law unambiguously requires disclosure of the principal's specific company name. <sup>16</sup> And the District Court found that "KDN" was not disclosed prior to the time of contracting. CR 5012-13. Therefore, WinCo

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Even assuming the District Court should have followed an unreported Texas decision that runs contrary to binding Idaho precedent, that case is distinguishable. In *Nadeau*, the agent affirmatively disclosed "that each of the four principals would be responsible for payment" and even that "three of the identified [p]rincipals were in financial difficulty and that these three [p]rincipals may not be able to make timely payments." *Id.* at \*4. Based on those facts, the court found that the contractor had agreed to "look solely to the principals for payment." *Id.* at \*9.

could not have implicitly agreed to "look solely" to KDN for damages, because KDN was never disclosed.

Finally, the Nelson Parties' argument that Ms. Nelson cannot be liable for more than the first three stores because she disclosed KDN in April 2010 relies on the three separate contracts theory which, as discussed above, was expressly rejected by the District Court. Idaho law is clear that an agent who discloses the principal after the time of contracting but during performance is still liable for any damages arising from the contract, even for work performed after the disclosure. *See Frontier Dev. Grp., LLC v. Caravella*, 157 Idaho 589, 598, 338 P.3d 1193 (2014), *reh'g denied* (Sept. 25, 2014) ("We have long held that the agent must disclose his agency relationship and principal before or at the time of the contract.").

# 3. Ms. Nelson is Personally Liable for all Damages Associated With the Contract Under the Pre-Incorporation Theory.

The District Court's finding that a valid contract existed as between "KD Concrete" and WinCo as of January 2010 is sufficient to impose personal liability on Ms. Nelson. Idaho Code § 30-1-204 states that "[a]ll persons purporting to act as or on behalf of a corporation, when there was no incorporation under this chapter, are jointly and severally liable for all liabilities created while so acting." "Liabilities" arise "when a contract is executed, not when it is breached." CR 5038 (citing the Revised Model Business Corporation Act of 1984; 1A *Fletcher Cyc. Corp.* § 215 (Thomas Reuters 2015); *Sivers v. R & F Capital Corp.*, 858 P.2d 895, 897 (Or. Ct. App. 1993); *Harris v. Looney*, 862 S.W.2d 282, 285 (Ark. Ct. App. 1993); *Zuberi v. Gimberg*, 496 S.E.2d 741, 742 (Ga. Ct. App. 1998)). Therefore, Ms. Nelson is liable for all breaches of the contract, even those that occurred after she incorporated KDN.

# 4. Even Assuming the District Court's Decision was Based on Legal Error, the Error was Harmless Because the District Court Also Found Ms. Nelson Liable as the Alter-Ego of the Other Nelson Parties.

Ms. Nelson remains personally liable for entire amount of the Amended Judgment even if she was not personally liable under the undisclosed principal and pre-incorporation liability theories discussed above. This is because the District Court also found that all the Nelson Parties, including Ms. Nelson, were jointly and severally responsible for the judgment pursuant to WinCo's alter-ego theories. CR 5052. Therefore, even if the District Court erred in its analysis of the relevant contract principals (which it did not), the error was harmless because Ms. Nelson is still personally liable for the entire Amended Judgment, regardless of whether or not there were multiple contracts or she properly disclosed the existence of KDN. *See* Idaho R. Civ. P. 61. Accordingly, this Court should not disturb the judgment.

### D. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE NELSON PARTIES WERE ALTER EGOS OF ONE ANOTHER.

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